Access all ages

Assessing the impact of age on access to surgical treatment











The Dunhill Medical Trust

Contents

	Forewords	2
	Executive summary	4
	Methodology	7
	Background	9
	The impact of age on access to surgery, by procedure	17
	Breast surgery	18
	Coronary artery bypass graft surgery	22
	Hip and knee replacement	25
	Colorectal excision	28
	Radical prostatectomy	32
	Cholecystectomy	35
	Inguinal hernia repair	38
~		4.4
	Conclusions and recommendations	41

Figures

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	
Figure 6	
Figure 7	
Figure 8	
Figure 9	
Figure 10	

Forewords



Professor Norman Williams President of The Royal College of Surgeons of England

The Office for National Statistics estimates that the number of people in Britain over the age of 65 will increase by 65% over the next 25 years.¹ This significant shift in demographics will change our perceptions and expectations of older people, and healthcare services will need to respond.

In this context, it is particularly alarming to read the growing number of studies that indicate that the healthcare a patient receives may be influenced by his or her age alone, rather than clinical factors. As surgeons, it is our duty to do the best for our patients, improving their health while protecting them from avoidable or unnecessary harm. Achieving this is a balancing act. Life expectancy in the UK has been steadily increasing and older people's fitness is improving but as people get older, they are more likely to experience comorbidities. These comorbidities and other clinical issues of the individual patient should be objectively assessed and mitigated where possible. In clinical terms, it is a person's biological rather than chronological age that matters.

Instinctively, most surgeons would support this approach. Yet delivering it can be challenging. There are multiple factors that affect treatment decisions and there may be good reasons why some older people opt out of surgery or are recommended non-surgical treatment alternatives. The key is that chronological age should not be used as a proxy for clinical factors.

With the ban on age discrimination now in effect in the NHS, there is a legal as well as a moral and professional imperative to ensure that older patients receive the most appropriate treatment for their individual needs. As a first step to supporting surgeons in delivering this, the College is delighted to be partnering with Age UK and MHP Health Mandate to publish this report, which explores trends in major surgical procedures, proposes potential causes of these trends and makes recommendations about how the NHS can ensure that all patients are offered the best possible surgical treatment, irrespective of their age.



Michelle Mitchell Charity Director-General, Age UK

Life expectancy when the NHS was established was 66 for men and 70 for women. Today it is 78 and 82 respectively. At 65 years, men will live an average of 18 more years; women 21.

These figures are a testament to the achievements of the NHS. People live longer and they also live more healthily. Conditions that caused people to die at younger ages in the past are now treatable or manageable. This can mean that some older people could be referred for surgery with more complex needs and comorbidities. Equally, more and more older people will be referred with few or no additional needs or potential complications. Put simply, the use of chronological age in decision-making is out of date.

Unfortunately, the way in which the NHS approaches the care of older people is not keeping pace with these changes. By the time older people are considered for surgery, neither they or the surgeon can be assured that the referral was timely, that the decision about whether to treat will be taken purely on clinical grounds, or that post-operative care will be tailored to their needs. This needs to change. Now is the time for the NHS to recalibrate how it approaches the treatment and care of people in later life.

Change can be difficult to deliver, as the factors leading to suboptimal care for older people are complex. This report is an important step towards understanding the variations in surgical care that exist according to age, as well as the explanations for them.

We hope that this report will help inform some of the debates around how we care for older people. Fundamentally, we need to ensure that all people have the right to highquality care and the chance of the best possible quality of life regardless of their age.

Executive summary

Our patient population today is older and fitter for longer than ever before. The number of people aged 65 and over is expected to rise by 65% (to almost 16.4 million) over the next 25 years.¹ Although our ageing population is often portrayed as a burden, it is in fact something to be celebrated: we lead healthier lifestyles and enjoy effective healthcare. The surgical profession should be proud of the role it has played in achieving this.

However, NHS services have not always kept pace with these changes, and recently the quality of care for older patients has faced intense scrutiny. A new legal framework to outlaw age discrimination in the NHS cements our moral duty of care to older patients and sends a clear signal to the NHS to deliver the best care and support to every patient in line with his or her needs.

In response to these issues, the Royal College of Surgeons, Age UK and MHP Health Mandate have undertaken a study to:

- assess how treatment rates for common surgical interventions vary according to age;
- » explore potential reasons for this variation; and
- » make recommendations about how the profession and other stakeholders can best respond.

This report summarises the findings of this process.

As people grow older, they are more likely to be diagnosed with common conditions such as cancer, heart disease and arthritis. A patient's relative need for a range of health interventions, including surgical treatment, therefore increases with age. However, our report shows that across a range of common conditions, elective surgical treatment rates decline steadily for the over-65s. This creates a stark contrast – of increasing health need on the one hand and a decline in potentially lifeenhancing treatment on the other. For example:

- » Incidence of breast cancer peaks in the 85+ age group, while the surgery rate peaks for patients in their mid-60s and then declines sharply from approximately the age of 70.²
- » The rate of elective knee replacement and hip replacement surgery for patients aged in their late 70s and over has dropped consistently over the three years examined.

There are a number of possible explanations for these trends. Some are specific to the condition and these are explored in more detail within the report, but a number are of wider significance. They can be broadly summarised in three ways:





The number of people aged 65 and over is expected to rise by 65% (to almost 16.4 million) over the next 25 years.

Clinical factors. For example the impact of existing conditions or health needs, which could mean that the risks of treatment outweigh the benefits.

Clinical approaches. The way in which individual clinicians approach the treatment of older people based on their own experience, attitudes and evidence:

- » A patient's chronological age and his or her biological age may be conflated – this means that decisions may not always be made on the basis of a comprehensive and objective assessment but on a series of assumptions about fitness in older age.
- » The clinical benefit of providing treatment may be questioned when relative life expectancy is shorter.
- » Communication with patients to discuss risks and benefits, and to inform and to reflect on issues and anxieties, may be limited or ineffective.
- » There may be a shortage of evidence, tools, strategies and specialist clinical input to support surgical treatment in older age.

Patient awareness and preference. Patients may lack the information they need to make an informed decision about whether surgery is right for them. Even with the right information and support, patients may opt out of treatment for a range of personal reasons, which are noted elsewhere in the report.

It is also clear that actions and behaviours across other parts of the pathway, such as within primary care or within the wider commissioning process, may affect both the rate of referral and the fitness of older patients for surgical treatment (for example if diseases were identified at an earlier stage or if comorbidities were managed better in a community setting pre and post-operatively). Similarly, at a system level, it will be important to ensure that the framework for quality improvement in the post-reform NHS effectively measures and provides incentives for high-quality outcomes for people of all ages.

We do not know what the relative importance of the different factors may be and decisionmaking will vary in each individual case. While there may be legitimate clinical reasons why an older person may not benefit from surgery, it remains the case that some patients may be missing out, given the important quality-of-life gains that surgical intervention can bring. It is the task of the NHS, professional bodies, individual clinicians, the third sector and the government to work together to ensure that every person can benefit from the right intervention, regardless of age.

Our 25 recommendations focus on 6 key areas:

- Informing and communicating with patients to encourage them to seek help and take part in decisions about their treatment and care.
- Improving the evidence base to further our understanding of the impact of age on surgical decision-making.
- 3. Developing guidance to promote age equality in surgical care.
- Delivering the most appropriate care by improving models of working and developing guidance for clinicians.
- Measuring progress and tackling underperformance.
- 6. Delivering high-quality commissioning for older people.

We hope this report establishes the starting point for this urgent discussion.

Methodology

The report examines eight different surgical procedures:

- » Breast excision: surgery to remove a cancerous lump or a more extensive area of breast tissue, depending on the extent to which the cancer has spread.
- » Coronary artery bypass graft: surgery performed to treat cases of severe coronary heart disease and improve vital blood flow to the heart by grafting a healthy blood vessel to the blocked coronary artery or arteries.
- » Hip replacement: replacement surgery performed following the progressive worsening of severe arthritis in the hip joint or following a fracture.
- » Knee replacement: replacement surgery performed following the progressive worsening of severe arthritis in the knee joint or following a severe fracture.
- » Colorectal excision: a procedure used to remove a section of the bowel in order to treat cancer or other bowel diseases such as diverticular disease and Crohn's disease.
- » Radical prostatectomy: the removal of the entire prostate and seminal vesicles, undertaken for some men with prostate cancer in order to remove the cancerous tumour and surrounding tissue.
- » Inguinal hernia repair: groin hernias (inguinal hernias) are the most common form of hernia. Repair procedures fix the weakness in the abdominal muscle wall through which the hernia protrudes and prevent the hernia becoming strangulated and infected.
- » Cholecystectomy: gall bladder removal (cholecystectomy) is indicated for patients with symptomatic gall stones, which develop when the flow of bile through the gall bladder slows. Gall stones are painful and can cause inflation and infection in the gall bladder or pancreas.

These procedures were chosen because:

- » each has been proven effective among older patients, typically addressing health issues that are common in later life;
- » most, if not all, procedures represent the most common treatment for the conditions in question; and
- » the combination of procedures allows a range of surgical specialities to be considered.

Data on treatment numbers were elicited through parliamentary questions, which provided comprehensive Hospital Episode Statistics data, broken down by age, for each procedure that took place in the NHS in England. These data were analysed in detail to identify patterns in the provision of surgery by age.

To inform this analysis, an assessment was made of the mainstream clinical and professional guidance for practitioners in England of each of these procedures. This assessment sought to identify:

- » any specific references to age and the decision to treat;
- » any measures or statements that are likely to exclude patients on the basis of their chronological age (these could be implicit); and

» any guidance that supports clinicians in managing issues associated with older age that would enable a patient to undergo surgical treatment safely.

The data and evidence review were shared with clinical experts to gain a surgical opinion on the treatment rates presented, the extent to which age may be a factor in decisions to offer surgical treatment to patients and the extent to which this is clinically justifiable. It should be noted that the contributions of the clinical experts are based on their own practice and their individual views are not representative of the practice or views of the surgical profession as a whole.

While there are a number of points in the care pathway where access to treatment may be impeded (for example, within primary care or through the commissioning process), this report focuses on the point at which a patient is already referred to a secondary care specialist (consultant surgeon) and the process that happens at this stage to determine whether surgery is an option.

The report's findings and recommendations are grounded in a detailed analysis of the political, legal, economic and social context in which everyday NHS decision-making takes place.

Background

There is a broad political and clinical consensus that making decisions about access to healthcare on the basis of age alone is inappropriate. Doing so runs counter to the founding principle of the NHS that care should be available on the basis of clinical need.

Age can be assessed in two different ways:

- » chronological age, which is the length of time a person has been alive; and
- » biological age, which assesses the physiological fitness and function of a person.

Biological age is a valid way of assessing suitability for treatment; chronological age is not. The two are not the same and chronological age should therefore not be used as a proxy for biological age. Indeed, the NHS Constitution states:

"The NHS provides a comprehensive service, available to all irrespective of gender, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief. It has a duty to each and every individual that it serves and must respect their human rights. At the same time, it has a wider social duty to promote equality through the services it provides and to pay particular attention to groups or sections of society where improvements in health and life expectancy are not keeping pace with the rest of the population."³

However, there is evidence that older people are less likely to gain access to some treatments than other age groups, even though their relative need is higher. For example, older patients:

- » wait longer in accident and emergency departments;
- » are less likely to be referred to intensive care;
- » have less access to palliative care; and
- » are treated less for a number of conditions including cancer, heart disease and stroke.⁴

There is also evidence that outcomes for older people are poorer. For example, older people with cancer, stroke or heart disease have poorer outcomes than their counterparts in other countries.⁵ Improvements in cancer mortality have also been much slower. Since 1971, mortality has dropped by 40% in people between 50–59 and only 9% in people 70–79.⁶ This is despite two-thirds of cancers being diagnosed in people over 65.⁶

There is now a consensus that the NHS is too often failing to meet the needs of older people.⁷⁻¹² For example, a recent study by The King's Fund found that:

'It is painfully clear that the health and social care system is failing older people with complex needs [...] the great urgency is to turn the guidance and rhetoric of personalised care into a reality of everyday care and practice'.¹¹

Box 1 Older people's health in 2012



¹Comorbidities or patient choice alone do not explain why older people receive less intensive treatment. It is likely that there are a range of contributory factors, including clinical attitudes, a misunderstanding of the toxicities and side effects of modern cancer treatments and problems in providing appropriate community support for older cancer patients¹³ Department of Health, 2010

People are living and staying healthy for longer than ever before. The continuing achievements of the NHS and public health improvements mean that at 65, average life expectancy is a further 18 years for men and 21 years for women.¹⁴ At 75, these figures are 11 and 13 years respectively. This means that a woman who lives to 75 can reasonably expect to live until she is 88. Some will live much longer (there are around 12,000 centenarians alive today in the UK).

The surgeons interviewed for this report described significant changes in the health and wellbeing of the older patients in their care. More older people are referred to them than at the start of their careers and many people traditionally thought of as in the higher end of later life (75+) are presenting with a health state previously expected in younger age groups.

This reflects improvements in disability-free life expectancy – the age to which people can expect to live without a disability. At 65, men and women both have a disability-free life expectancy of 10 years. We also know that this is modifiable throughout the life-course. Office of National Statistics (ONS) figures show that this figure varies hugely depending on levels of social deprivation, standing at 7 years for men in the poorest areas and 12 years in the wealthiest.¹⁵

Older people's health can be very good into later life and, where it is not, both early and late interventions can mitigate risk. This applies just as much to frail older people living with multiple comorbidities. Comprehensive assessment, by a geriatrician, for example, can have a significant impact on outcomes, particularly in the case of surgery. The National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcomes and Death report *An Age Old Problem*¹⁶ highlighted the benefit of input from Medicine for the Care of Older People clinicians in reducing mortality in the first 30 days after surgery. With the right support, older people who may once have responded poorly to surgical procedures can now expect much better outcomes.



Tackling age inequality – learning from the cancer experience

Box 2

The National Cancer Equality Initiative was set up to develop research proposals on cancer inequalities, test interventions and advise on the development of policy. Meanwhile the work of the National Cancer Intelligence Network has proved crucial in bringing together different sources of information and publishing data that provide greater insight into cancer inequalities.

At a clinical level, the recent report *The impact of patient age on clinical decision-making in oncology* explored the extent to which age is a factor in treatment decisions for a range of cancers, as well as the extent to which clinical attitudes vary across different cancer types and in different countries. In the study, clinicians were presented with a number of patient vignettes with alternating variables and were asked to make treatment decisions for each. Analysis of the findings shows the significant impact of chronological age on decision-making. For example, patients in their 70s with good social support and no comorbidities were more likely to be given more intense cancer treatment than patients in their 80s with the same characteristics.¹⁹

The findings of the study have been used to inform the ongoing work of Macmillan Cancer Support, Age UK and the Department of Health to deliver the Improving Cancer Treatment, Assessment and Support for Older People Project. Five pilot sites are testing interventions aimed at reducing under-treatment.

These initiatives have proved crucial in identifying specific challenges and will inform the development of practical tools and guidance that allow clinicians to provide the best possible cancer treatment regardless of a person's age.

Initiatives to improve services for older people

The Equality Act 2010 requires NHS bodies (including commissioners and providers) to promote age equality and, since October 2012, to eliminate age discrimination in the provision of services. In preparation for the ban on age discrimination, a range of initiatives have been undertaken to help the NHS prepare:

- » A review by Sir Ian Carruthers into age equality in health and social care, which set out the steps required to translate legal requirements into practical change.¹⁷
- » The National institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) has begun to include active treatment rates for older people as a marker of high-quality care within quality standards.¹⁸
- » The Department of Health, the National Cancer Action Team and Macmillan Cancer Support are working together to test new approaches to clinical assessment for older patients.
- » The increasing use of 'equity audits' enabling multidisciplinary teams (MDTs) to consider the demographic characteristics of their patients and reflect on their care and treatment.

The challenge is that the reasons why older people often receive different treatment are complex and in some cases may be justified on the grounds of clinical judgement or patient preference. For example, the risks associated with surgery (both in terms of survival and impact on quality of life) may be greater for any person with comorbidities and older people are more likely to live with one or more long term conditions. Equally, the benefit may be smaller - the clinician, patient or both may decide that the benefits do not justify the risks

Assessing the suitability of a patient of any age for treatment often requires finely balanced clinical judgements. The challenge is to ensure that such decisions are made on the basis of objective analysis.



The Equality Delivery System: supporting access to surgery for older people?

Box 3

The Equality Delivery System (EDS) helps the NHS to deliver on the NHS Outcomes Framework (see Box 4), the NHS Constitution for patients and staff and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) essential standards. It sets out four nationally agreed objectives for NHS commissioners and providers. These are:

- 1. Better health outcomes for all
- 2. Improved patient access and experience
- 4. Inclusive leadership at all levels

There are 18 outcomes across the 4 goals. There are three clinical need, regardless of age:

Objective 1: Better health outcomes for all

services provided, in appropriate and effective ways.

Objective 2: Improved patient access and experience

- » Patients, carers and communities can readily access services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds.
- » Patients are informed and supported to be as involved as they wish to be in their diagnoses and decisions about their care, and to exercise choice about treatments and places of treatment.

Performance will be analysed and graded against the goals and outcomes and reported to the local HealthWatch and HealthWatch England. HealthWatch England will advise the CQC of concerns for each organisation (a tool used to monitor compliance with the essential standards of quality and safety). The ultimate sanction for continued poor performance could be loss of registration. In addition, the agreed equality objectives for commissioners will be reported to the NHS Commissioning Board and performance

The legal framework

The Equality Act 2010 provides the legal framework that outlaws unfair treatment and helps promote equality between individuals in the workplace and in wider society. The public sector equality duty (PSED) (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) came into force in 2011. It requires public bodies to consider all individuals in the development of policy, the design and delivery of services, and in relation to their own employees. It stipulates that public bodies must have due regard for the need to eliminate discrimination against a number of protected characteristics, including age, to advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between employees.

NHS bodies, including commissioners and trusts, were exempt from the ban on age discrimination until October 2012. It is now illegal for people working within the NHS to:

- » make assumptions about whether older patients should be referred for treatment based solely on their age, rather than on the individual need and fitness level; or
- » choose not to refer certain age groups (such as those not of working age) for a particular treatment or intervention that is considered mainly for working-age adults.

The Equality Act 2010 does not prevent age being used as a criterion for service provision to a population when there is strong clinical evidence justifying it. This often applies to public health interventions such as screening and vaccination programmes, where evidence shows little or no benefit for particular age groups, old or young.

The challenge, however, is to translate theoretical legal protection into practical and meaningful action. At an organisational level the NHS Equality Delivery System was launched in July 2011, aiming to help the NHS meet its equality duties and embed equality within mainstream NHS business. NHS bodies are also required to publish information to demonstrate compliance with the PSED. Information must be published at least annually and equality objectives set at least every four years.

It is less clear how the new duty should be made meaningful at an individual clinical level, although the data that should be published as a result of the Equality Delivery System should help inform clinical practice.

The impact of current trends in the NHS

Financial challenges

The NHS has entered a period of spending restraint and the NHS Chief Executive has set out a challenge to deliver £20 billion of efficiency savings. Given this environment, there is a danger that interventions for different groups in society, such as older people, could be disproportionately restricted. One reason that restrictions may be imposed is the perceived reduction in the cost effectiveness of interventions for patients with a shorter relative life expectancy.

The NHS Operating Framework for 2012/2013 has made clear that equality duties – including those relating to age – should not be undermined as a result of the financial challenge facing the NHS:

*We need to protect and promote quality while releasing savings everywhere. In doing so we will continue to ensure that NHS values are at the heart of what we do and we remain committed to tackling inequalities and promoting equality.*²⁰

Despite this, there is evidence that restrictions are being applied to certain procedures in order to secure cost savings. The type of procedure and the criteria used to determine access to individual procedures may negatively affect older patients as the perceived clinical benefit may be less significant.

One example is in the development of guidance such as the 'Croydon list' and the subsequent

Audit Commission report, Reducing expenditure on low value clinical treatments, which are designed to help commissioners deliver cash-releasing savings.21 Knee joint and primary hip replacement surgery, which is predominantly performed on patients over the age of 65, has been found to be 'highly cost effective'22 even for patients who have mild or moderate knee arthritis. Despite this, they are procedures that have been categorised as 'effective interventions with a close benefit or risk balance in mild cases' where eligibility is likely to be narrower than in the past.²³ As a result, a number of primary care trusts have revised their policies on hip and knee replacement to reflect a low-priority procedure classification.²⁴ This will disproportionately affect older people.

Similarly '*work related issues*' have been explicitly listed as a factor that influences eligibility for hernia surgery²³ – this may disadvantage older men of non-working age, who may have comparable symptoms and who may gain quality-of-life benefits from the procedure.

> *The NHS is about fairness for everyone in our society* Department of Health, Equity and Excellence,

November 2011





There is an escalating backlash against suspected rationing by NHS trusts, most recently in relation to restrictions in access to cataract surgery.²⁴ Cataracts affect a third of people over 65 and can easily be treated by surgery, which involves replacing the damaged lens with an artificial implant.²⁴ More than half of the NHS trusts in England have imposed additional criteria for cataract surgery that are tougher than national guidelines, according to research by the Royal National Institute of Blind People.

The Secretary of State for Health has argued that blanket bans on procedures are unacceptable,²⁵ but it appears that commissioners are nonetheless instituting policies that may restrict interventions disproportionately for older people.

Health service reforms

The financial challenge facing the NHS could make it more difficult to ensure that older people are given the most appropriate treatment. However, a number of the quality measures introduced as a result of the reforms to health and social care present opportunities to increase the accountability of commissioners and providers of treatment for older people, ensuring that the NHS can fulfil its twin commitment to promote equality and secure continuous improvement in the quality of services.

These commitments include:

- » the focus on delivering identified outcomes, which can be disaggregated by age group;
- » the development of quality standards by NICE, some of which make clear that intervention rates for older people should be monitored;¹⁸
- » the introduction of incentive payments for improving quality, which could be focused on addressing unmet need among older people; and
- » the increased use of clinical audit, which should enable clinicians, commissioners and patients to assess variations in the quality of care according to age group.

Box 4

The NHS Outcomes Framework 2012–2013



The NHS Outcomes Framework sets out the high-level areas for improvement against which the NHS will be held to account. NHS organisations are expected to use the NHS Outcomes Framework indicators, disaggregated by equality group wherever possible, as evidence of their performance.

'Active consideration has been given to how the indicators can be analysed by equalities and inequalities dimensions to support NHS action on reducing health inequalities.'²⁶ Department of Health 2010

A number of measures are included that are of direct relevance to the quality of surgical treatment, such as patient-reported outcome measures (PROMS) for hip and knee replacements and other elective procedures. Disaggregation of these data by age will help identify the quality of outcomes for older patients. Even so, further work is needed to calculate the proportion of older patients who are put forward for medical interventions in line with their clinical needs.

While the majority of the indicators in the latest iteration of the framework (2012/2013) that are relevant to surgery capture outcomes for patients of all ages, four key indicators within Domain 1 specifically exclude patients on the basis of age. These are shared with the Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012):

Reducing premature mortality from the major causes of death:

- 1.1 Under-75 mortality rate from cardiovascular disease
- 2.2 Under-75 mortality rate from respiratory disease
- 3.3 Under-75 mortality rate from liver disease
- 4.1.vii Under-75 mortality rate from cancer

The framework states that work is ongoing to '*Isolat[e]* [...] *the specific NHS contribution to outcomes for the over-*75s'²⁷ in order to inform future indicators encompassing this age group.

Nevertheless, there may be less incentive to improve access to interventions for over-75s where performance will be subject to less scrutiny, even though the benefits in quality of life and longevity may be significant. Given the proportion of older people in the NHS case load, more work is needed to define and measure good outcomes for older people and to identify whether older people have an appropriate level of access to care.

The impact of age on access to surgery, by procedure

Using routine NHS data collection, it is possible to investigate variations in access to different surgical interventions according to age. This section examines the patterns of surgical treatment in relation to age across eight procedures. Relevant clinical and professional guidance is analysed to determine the extent to which guidance supports decision-making in relation to older patients. The section includes insights from surgeons to interpret the trends identified and outlines possible factors that may influence the observed trends in treatment rates. These factors are discussed in more detail in the *Conclusions and recommendations* chapter.

Breast surgery

Indication

Most breast surgery is carried out in order to treat breast cancer. It is by far the most common cancer among women in the UK, accounting for 31% of all new cases of cancer in females.¹⁸ The type of surgery is dependent on the size and location of the tumour. If left untreated, the prognosis can be life threatening.

The incidence of breast cancer increases with age, with 81% of all diagnoses occurring in people over 50. Older patients are also more likely to present with symptomatic, advanced cancer.¹⁸ Incidence rates rise steeply from around age 35–39, level off for women in their 50s, rise further at age 65–69, drop slightly for women aged 70–74, then increase steadily to reach an overall peak in the 85+ age group.¹⁸

The NHS Breast Screening Programme has national coverage and currently targets women aged 50–70; although women over the age of 70 are not sent routine invitations, they are encouraged to request mammograms at their local unit every three years.²⁸

Screening has led to earlier detection of breast cancer and an increase in breast conservation surgery, with local excision of the tumour now performed more frequently than mastectomy. The screening programme is now gradually being extended to women aged 47–49, as well as to those aged 71–73. The 'age extension' phase of the programme is expected to be complete by 2016.

Another indication leading to excision of breast tissue is the presence of benign breast lesions, although these will account for only around 10% of procedures captured within our data.

Treatment

Surgery is the mainstay of therapy for breast cancer, often in combination with an additional therapy. Patients may be given hormonal therapy or chemotherapy to shrink the cancer before they have surgery.

Breast-conserving surgery (lumpectomy) is the removal of the tumour and a small area of surrounding tissue. This is commonly used in combination with radiotherapy when cancer is limited to a small, defined area. Sentinel lymph node biopsy surgery may be performed to limit the spread of cancer within the body. Removal of all breast tissue (mastectomy) may be necessary in instances of later-stage disease.



The ASA Physical Status Classification System

Box 5

The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) Physical Status Classification System is used to categorise a patient's physical state in advance of surgery, to inform the selection of the appropriate anaesthetic. The physical status classification system categorises by increasing severity as follows:

- » ASA PS 1 A normal healthy patient
- » ASA PS 2 A patient with mild systemic disease
- » **ASA PS 3** A patient with severe systemic disease
- » ASA PS 4 A patient with severe systemic disease that is a constant threat to life
- » ASA PS 5 A moribund patient who is not expected to survive without the operation
- » ASA PS 6 A declared brain-dead patient whose organs are being removed for donor purposes

Descriptions of patients' pre-operative physical status are used for record keeping, communicating between colleagues and to create a uniform system for statistical analysis. The grading system is not intended for use as a measure to predict operative risk, but clinical anecdote suggests that physical status is factored in when deciding candidacy for surgery, as a predictor of the risk of adverse surgical outcomes. Patients receiving scores of 1 and 2 are broadly considered eligible for elective surgery and there is no specific mention of patients' age.

While this system is commonly used by clinicians, there are concerns over how suitable it is for older patients as it does not take into account nuances in comorbidities and resilience to anaesthesia. Further work is required in this area.

Guidance

Existing clinical guidance is positive with respect to provision of surgery in older age. The NICE clinical guidance for early and locally advanced breast cancer (February 2009) recommends that clinicians 'treat patients with early invasive breast cancer, irrespective of age, with surgery and appropriate systemic therapy, rather than endocrine therapy alone, unless significant comorbidity precludes surgery'.²⁹

Likewise, the recently published NICE quality standard on breast cancer (September 2011) includes a specific quality statement on access to surgery, which should be offered to patients regardless of their chronological age.¹⁸ The proportion of older women given active treatment has also been identified as a key quality indicator as part of the standard.¹⁸

To benchmark progress against this quality measure, NICE states that the NHS should collect data on the proportion of people older than 70 with early invasive breast cancer who received breast-conserving surgery. Over time these data will allow comparison between different providers and commissioners of treatment rates among older women and support closer interrogation of patterns of treatment, identifying any restrictions that may form part of local NHS practice. Specialist guidance provided by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group is commonly used by surgeons to determine the prognosis of breast surgery based on individual patient assessment against a performance scale.³⁰ There is no specific mention of age and clinical opinion suggests that all patients scoring 0 and 1 on the performance scale should be eligible for surgery.

The Association of Breast Surgery guidelines (2009) make reference to age when considering factors to reflect in a patient's care plan, but no age-related, treatment-limiting factors are highlighted.³¹

Before any surgical procedure requiring an anaesthetic, a patient's physical status is analysed and classified. The common mechanism employed for this is ASA grading (see Box 5).

Key findings

Figure 1 (above right) shows the rates of elective breast excision procedures by age across three consecutive years (2008–2011).

Despite the fact that incidence of breast cancer peaks in the 85+ age group, the surgery rate peaks for patients in their mid-60s and then declines sharply from approximately the age of 70.² The peak for patients in their late 60s can reasonably be explained by a combination of increased incidence and active participation in the screening programme.

Our clinical commentator suggested the following factors as possible causes of the decline in treatment rate:



Figure 1 Rate of elective breast excision procedures, by age

- » The absence of routine screening for over-75s, meaning that fewer asymptomatic cancers will be identified in this age group.
- » The increased likelihood of comorbidities, meaning that more women are deemed unfit for surgery.
- » Later presentation owing to lower levels of awareness among older women, meaning that surgery may not be appropriate.³² The expert commentator suggested that cancer campaigns aimed at younger women may have had the unintended consequence of making older women think they were less likely to get cancer.
- » Quality-of-life considerations (as opposed to mortality) may be more important in treatment decisions for the oldest patients, in light of the side effects of surgical treatment and recovery regimes. Surgeons need to be mindful of this when considering treatment approaches for women with comorbidities. Put simply, the negative effects of the treatment must not be more severe than those of the disease itself.

Surgery is most effective in early-stage disease. Lower levels of awareness among older women are therefore likely to have an impact on both surgery rates and clinical outcomes. Poor awareness may also contribute to lower levels of patient expectation about the benefit that treatment could have, meaning that patients are less likely to choose invasive options. It should be noted that the attitudes of older women to cancer treatment may have been shaped many years ago, meaning that they have a particularly negative perception of the side effects and impact on quality of life. It is therefore welcome that the Department of Health is piloting breast cancer awareness programmes specifically targeting the over-70s.

Expert commentators have pointed out the trade-off between quality of life and the desire to treat cancer effectively. Nonetheless, surgeons have observed a trend towards healthier older patients, suggesting that some older women may be missing out on curative surgery when they are fit to receive it. Addressing this will require a greater focus on the treatment of older patients, including considering methods to limit the intensity of treatment, such as less-invasive surgery. It is therefore welcome that NICE guidance is explicit that surgery should be offered to all women for whom it may be suitable, irrespective of age.²⁹

The attitudes of older women to cancer treatment may have been shaped many years ago, meaning that they have a particularly negative perception of the side effects and impact on quality of life

Coronary artery bypass graft surgery

Indication

Coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery is performed to treat cases of severe coronary heart disease (CHD), which occurs when the coronary arteries become narrowed and blocked by a build-up of cholesterol and fatty deposits. CHD incidence increases with age.³³

The most common indication for elective CABG surgery is chronic stable angina, which is recurring chest pain caused by a lack of oxygen reaching the heart muscle, owing largely to a narrowing of the coronary arteries. Patients who have disease of the left main coronary artery, and those with disease of all three major coronary arteries and abnormal function of the left ventricle, are primary candidates.³⁴ If left untreated, the condition can be life threatening. Emergency procedures are indicated for patients with unstable angina following a heart attack or a blood clot. Emergency CABG is defined as being performed pending or during a heart attack.

Treatment

Once contracted, CHD requires lifelong management. Mild to moderate CHD can be managed with lifestyle and diet changes and appropriate medication such as statins and vasodilators. Alternatives to CABG include aggressive medical therapy and angioplasty (mechanical widening of the artery), but CABG remains the favoured treatment option for long-term outcomes.³⁴

During CABG, a healthy artery or vein from the body is grafted to the blocked coronary artery. The grafted vessel bypasses the blocked portion of the coronary artery, creating a new path for blood to flow to the heart muscle. Traditionally CABG is performed 'on-pump' (when the heart is stopped), but more recently the 'off-pump' technique (when the heart is actively beating) is being practised with some evidence of fewer complications, including reduced incidence of post-operative stroke.³⁵ Both CABG techniques are captured in the data below.

Overall mortality relating to CABG is 3–4%.³⁶ Stroke occurs in 1–2% of cases, primarily in older patients; mortality and complications also increase with age and are particularly prevalent in the 70+ age bracket.³⁶ While the potential of CABG to deliver positive outcomes across all age groups is widely recognised, there is some evidence to suggest that age is considered to be an independent risk factor.³⁶

Guidance

NICE interventional procedure guidance 35, *Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting* (2011), makes no specific reference to age and recommends that surgeons are trained in both on and off-pump techniques.³⁷

The Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery commentary around clinical outcomes data suggests that increasing age is strongly associated with increased mortality following CABG surgery, but does not make any specific recommendations linked to age.³⁸



Figure 2 Rates of elective coronary artery bypass graft procedures, by age

The European Society of Cardiology's *Guidelines on myocardial revascularization* highlight that while age is one of the most important risk indicators, older patients experience a similar or greater benefit from early invasive procedures.³⁹

Risk calculators exist for this procedure, for example the 'logistic EuroSCORE' measure, which takes into account age among other measures such as gender and level of comorbidity⁴⁰ to generate a mortality risk figure, which is then used alongside clinical judgement to assess a patient's suitability for cardiac surgery. It is of note that age is factored in alongside comorbidities, so it is considered an independent factor within this mechanism.

Key findings

Figure 2 (left) shows the rates of elective CABG surgery by age across three consecutive years (2008–2011). The curve demonstrates that elective CABG surgery rates peak in patients in their late 70s and then begin to decline, with a sharp decline in patients aged in their early 80s and over. To place these data in context, prevalence of CHD increases markedly with age, so the decline in provision of elective CABG in older age cannot be explained by incidence alone.⁴¹ Clinical opinion suggests that among the factors likely to account for this decline are comorbidities and decisions taken by older patients to decline surgery.

Older patients are statistically more likely to present for surgery with more risk factors and reduced functional levels. Often this will delay surgery and deter patients from having surgery.

Notably, in our clinical commentator's experience, geriatricians are only involved in the CABG care pathway on an ad hoc basis for specific indications and are not systematically engaged in the decision. Older patients with comorbidities can be 'optimised' for CABG surgery, tailoring pre-operative and postoperative care to maximise the suitability of patients for surgery, but the extent to which this is common practice is unclear. Elective CABG surgery rates peak in patients in their late 70s and then begin to decline, with a sharp decline notable in patients aged in their early 80s and over

Hip and knee replacement

Indication

Total hip and knee replacements are most commonly performed because of progressive worsening of severe arthritis in the joint, generally seen with ageing, congenital abnormality or prior trauma. Arthritis of the joint will commonly lead to an elective procedure, whereas hip and knee fractures will normally require an emergency procedure. Falls are the main cause of joint fractures and older people are disproportionately affected, with high incidence of osteoporosis in older women commonly leading to fractures and resulting in emergency surgery.

It is estimated that osteoarthritis causes joint pain in 8.5 million people in the UK and recent figures show that approximately 12% of adults aged 65 and over have osteoarthritic pain in their hip.⁴² People over the age of 65 make up the overwhelming majority of recipients of joint replacement surgery and women are statistically more likely than men to require such surgery.⁴³

Treatment

All types of hip and knee surgery – from miniincision (keyhole) procedures to complex open cases – are included in the data analysed in this report. Surgery involves removal of the worn cartilage from both sides of the joint, followed by resurfacing of the joint with a metal and plastic implant that looks and functions much like a normal joint.

Significant advances have been made in both hip and knee-replacement procedures in recent years and surgery is a proven, predictable and durable solution for end-stage arthritis, allowing relief of debilitating pain and a return to independence for the patient. Referral for elective surgery should be made before a patient experiences prolonged and established functional limitation.

For most patients joint replacement is the optimal long-term solution, as injections of corticosteroids can provide only temporary symptomatic relief.

Guidance

Hip and knee replacements are recommended by NICE for all patients with severe arthritis who have not responded to non-surgical interventions.

The NICE clinical guideline *The care and management of osteoarthritis in adults* (2008), recommends that '*patient-specific factors* (*including age, gender, smoking, obesity and comorbidities*) *should not be barriers to referral for joint replacement therapy*'.⁴⁴ Related NICE interventional procedures guidance and technology appraisal guidance make no reference to age.^{45,46} NICE is referenced in a clinical knowledge summary on the NHS Evidence website as '*having reviewed a large number of studies and concluded that there is very little evidence on which to base decisions about who to refer*', in relation to hip and knee surgery.⁴²

Key findings

Figure 3 (right) represents the rates of emergency and elective hip replacement procedures across three consecutive years (2008–2011).

The figure shows little variation in overall surgical rates by year, but the following trends are apparent:

- » The rate of elective surgery increases with age up to a peak of 75, then declines sharply.
- » Emergency hip surgery is relatively uncommon in patients under the age of 70, with a sharp rise in the rate of emergency surgery from the age of 70 upwards.
- » In patients aged in their mid-80s and over, emergency surgery is more common than elective surgery.

It is important to note that people not receiving elective surgery for osteoporosis may not be ending up as emergency cases. This is because elective and emergency surgery are commonly attributable to different diagnoses (osteoarthritis and fracturing, respectively). The very high rate of emergency hip surgery in patients over 85 poses an urgent question



Figure 3 Rate of elective and emergency hip replacement procedures, by age

for the NHS in terms of fracture prevention in general, particularly given the significantly higher risks to mortality and morbidity presented by emergency procedures.

Financial factors prior to referral may also be a barrier to this type of surgery. As described earlier in this report, there is evidence of rationing in the commissioning of hip and knee replacement surgery according to age.

Figure 4 (opposite) shows the rates of elective knee replacement procedures by age across three consecutive years (2008–2011). While emergency surgery to treat hip fracture is common, data show that emergency surgery on the knee is uncommon. Our data analysis is therefore based on elective rates only.

The figure denotes little variation in surgical rates by year, but there is a clear trend in surgical rates by age: the rate of elective knee replacement surgery begins to decline



Figure 4 Rate of elective knee replacement procedures, by age

sharply after the age of about 79. A strong observational link can be made between the chronological age at which rates of both hip and knee elective procedures begin markedly to reduce.

The opinion of our clinical commentator is that the decline of elective hip or knee replacement operations in patients over the age of 79 is in part due to patients opting out. One example given is that some older patients may act as carer to a spouse or other family member, and immobility during recovery and rehabilitation may not be an attractive prospect. However, the extent to which these factors discourage older patients from undergoing surgery is unclear.

A recent study in the *BMJ*, 'Equity in access to total joint replacement of the hip and knee in England: cross sectional study', examines factors affecting access to hip and knee replacement surgery in England and concludes that there is evidence of inequality of access that adversely affects patients over the age of 85.⁴⁷ The data in our report can be interpreted as reinforcing this conclusion.

Colorectal excision

Indications

Colorectal excision is a relatively broad term covering procedures that involve the removal of part of the bowel and some of the surrounding tissue. The operation can be either open or laparoscopic. It is undertaken to treat several conditions – colorectal (bowel) cancers, diverticular disease and Crohn's disease are the most common.

More than 40,000 new cases of colorectal cancer are diagnosed each year in the UK. In 2010/2011, 22,048 colorectal excision procedures were undertaken on individuals with a form of the disease.⁴⁸ This represents 17% of the total procedures for that year. The incidence of colorectal cancers increases with a patient's age and more than 70% are diagnosed in people aged 65 or over.⁴⁸

The probability of developing diverticular disease increases with age: an estimated 5% of people over 50 are affected and 50% of people over 90. It occurs when the inner lining of the bowel breaks through bowel's muscle wall, creating bulges called diverticula.

Crohn's disease is the inflammation of the lining of the bowel. It affects approximately 60,000 people in the UK, with between 3,000 and 6,000 new cases diagnosed each year.⁴⁹ The condition can affect an individual's ability to absorb fluids and nutrients and can cause diarrhoea and pain. Crohn's disease typically has a much earlier age of onset that colorectal cancer or diverticular disease, between the ages of 10 and 40.^{49,50}

Treatment

Provided a colorectal cancer is not too advanced, surgery is the main treatment and may be combined with chemotherapy, radiotherapy or biological therapy. For those patients who do not undergo excision surgery, these adjuvant therapies may be delivered without surgery. For patients with advanced disease, palliative treatment options such as colorectal stenting can relieve the symptoms.

A colon resection is indicated for patients whose diverticula become infected (diverticulitis) and who experience symptoms more than once; alternative surgery is performed on patients with infections in their abdomen caused by the diverticula. It is thought that approximately 20% of patients with diverticular disease will experience an inflammatory complication of the disease that may require surgery.⁵¹

Approximately 75% of Crohn's disease patients who have disease in the small bowel

Fact Box: More than 70% of colorectal cancers are diagnosed in people aged 65 or over will have surgery in the first ten years after diagnosis to remove the most aggravated part of the bowel, though it is not curative in the long term.^{52,53}

Aside from surgery, drugs can be used to treat all of these conditions, though surgery is the only curative treatment for diverticular disease.

Guidance

The NICE technology appraisal guidance document *Laparoscopic surgery for the treatment of colorectal cancer* notes that the incidence of colorectal cancer increases with age, but does not provide direct information or guidance on if and how to treat older patients.⁵⁴ The NICE clinical guideline *Diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer* also does not make recommendations on what surgery is appropriate for this group of patients or when it is appropriate.⁵⁵ On the criteria for deferring treatment, the technology appraisal guidance is non-prescriptive with respect to age and other clinical issues.

Interestingly, NICE's cancer service guidance notes that decisions about which form of investigation should be used at any point in the diagnostic process should depend on the patient's *'symptoms, age and general condition'*.⁵⁵ The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland's *Guidelines for the Management of Colorectal Cancer, 3rd edn*,⁵⁶ include a number of recommendations that are pertinent to age, such as:

'Surgery for colorectal cancer should be avoided if the hazards are deemed to outweigh the potential benefits, i.e. when the patient is medically unfit for surgery.'

The guidance does reference a study linking age to outcomes⁵⁷ and it is further noted that 'more than a quarter of patients over 90 died within 30 days of their surgery compared with just over 10% of those aged between 80 and 89'. Data on the cause of death for these patients would inform a deeper analysis of surgical outcomes.

NICE has not produced any guidance regarding diverticular disease or Crohn's disease, except for technology appraisals for individual drugs. A clinical guideline on Crohn's disease is due to be published in late 2012. Quality standards for both topics are included in NICE's proposed library for development.

The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland has produced guidance for the treatment of diverticular disease, which was published in 2011. The guidance recognises that '*the mortality rate for both elective and emergency colectomy is higher in the* > 50 years age group', but does not make recommendations for treatment based on the age of a patient.⁵⁹

British Society for Gastroenterology guidelines for the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases, including Crohn's disease, note the increased incidence of the diseases in younger patients, but make no recommendations for treatment based on age or perceived fitness for surgery.⁶⁰

Our clinical commentator also noted that ASA grading (see Box 5) would be assessed at a preadmission clinic, alongside specific checks for heart and lung function. In addition, there are a number of mortality prediction tools available to colorectal surgeons that can be used to inform discussions of risk and benefit with the patient.⁶¹

Key findings

Figure 5 (above right) shows the rates of colorectal excision procedures that were undertaken in the NHS between 2008 and 2011. It shows clearly that treatment rates increase rapidly up to the age bracket of 65–69, after which they decline. The figure also shows that treatment rates increased year on year between 2008 and 2011.

The National Bowel Cancer Screening Programme started in 2006 and was fully implemented by 2010, covering men and women between the ages of 60 and 75. This is likely to account for the increasing treatment rates observed year on year between 2008 and 2011.



Figure 5 Rate of elective colorectal excision procedures, by age

Despite the higher incidence of Crohn's disease in the earlier age brackets, the decline in treatment rates in patients over the age of 69 does not correlate with the increased incidence of colorectal cancers and diverticular disease in older patients.

For colorectal cancers, the decline in treatment rates in older patients may be a result of the following factors, which influence the risk– benefit discussion between the patient and his or her clinician when deciding whether to undergo the procedure:

- » the impact of a patient's comorbidities on the level of risk associated with undergoing the procedure, and the potential postoperative side effects;
- » the stage and growth rate of the patient's tumour; and
- » the life expectancy of the patient.

It is not clear, however, whether these factors alone explain the decline in surgery.



It is also important to note the palliative treatment options, which are available for patients with the disease who are not treated with excision. Clearly, however, it is important that patients are not referred to palliative treatment unless all reasonable curative treatment options have been exhausted.

Diverticular and Crohn's diseases present less risk to a patient's life than colorectal cancer, and this will have a further impact on the risk–benefit profile associated with a colorectal excision procedure. Furthermore, there is a perception that some older patients may be more willing to live with symptoms than younger patients and this can influence their own decision whether to undergo treatment. However, given the role of surgery in reducing symptoms and, in the case of diverticulitis, reducing long-term mortality, it is important that these patients are encouraged to consider surgical treatment. This requires effective communication from both primary and secondary care professionals of the risks and benefits of the procedure to support shared decision-making with the patient.



10 Radical prostatectomy

Indication

Ten thousand men a year die from prostate cancer and the incidence of the disease increases with age.⁶² Diagnosis will occur either as a result of symptoms or testing based on an individual's risk of developing the disease. Risk factors for prostate cancer include age, ethnicity and a family history of the disease.⁶³ Prostate cancers vary in how rapidly they grow and spread through the body – those that spread beyond the prostate (metastasise) pose a significant risk to mortality as curative treatments become less effective. Of all the men who develop the disease, half will die as a direct result of it.⁶⁴

Treatment

The removal of the entire prostate and seminal vesicles (radical prostatectomy) is used as a treatment for men with localised or locally advanced prostate cancer. It aims to remove all of the cancerous cells before they spread to other parts of the body. The most common side effects associated with the procedure are incontinence and erectile dysfunction, caused by damage to the nerve that is wrapped around the prostate gland. This risk can be minimised through the use of robotically assisted techniques.⁶⁵ Around 65% of prostatectomies in England are currently performed laparoscopically, of which a quarter are performed with the assistance of the Da Vinci robot.⁶⁶ The data presented cover all methods of undertaking the procedure.

A number of non-surgical treatment options for prostate cancer also exist, including radiotherapy, brachytherapy and active monitoring for changes in the cancer's pathology or volume. The latter of these recognises the fact that a great number of men die with, but not of, prostate cancer, and that tumours can remain benign with limited or no symptoms for a long time, sometimes indefinitely.

Guidance

A clinical guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer was published by NICE in February 2008.⁶⁷ The guideline recommends that men should be offered radical prostatectomy or radical radiotherapy if they have intermediate-risk localised cancer, or high-risk localised cancer '*when there is a realistic prospect of long-term disease control.*' The guideline notes that age should be one of the risk factors for prostate cancer that should be covered in discussions with a patient when deciding whether to have a prostate biopsy.

However, the guideline does not include suitability criteria for men who are being considered for the treatment, and makes no reference to age with respect to clinical decision-making. In addition, interventional procedure guidance has been produced by NICE specifically for the laparoscopic procedure and recommends it strongly based on the current evidence for its safety and efficacy.⁶⁵ As interventional procedure guidance, it does not make recommendations regarding patient suitability for the procedure.

Guidance from the British Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS)⁶⁸ for surgical MDTs on treating prostate cancer highlights *Age/co-morbidity/life expectancy*' as a key consideration for the MDT when determining which treatment to recommend for an individual. This criterion is included in the guidance referring to all stages of prostate cancer. Furthermore, age and comorbidities are mentioned in tandem throughout the guidance, though distinctly. For example:

"Treatment strategies are influenced by the stage of disease and by an interaction between the risk of disease progression, survival and key patient characteristics, such as age, lifestyle and general health. The discussion of these factors is of crucial importance in determining the most appropriate way forward. For example, age and the presence of comorbidities may be a restrictive factor when considering surgery." As such, the guidance promotes the use of a person's age as an independent factor in determining which treatment to recommend a patient, though it is not clear on what basis as comorbidity and life expectancy are mentioned as separate factors.

Anecdotal evidence also suggests that ten-year life expectancy considerations exist in the clinical culture of the NHS. This raises the issue of accurate life expectancy estimation and awareness of the factors affecting assessment of life expectancy, including the use of appropriate actuarial life expectancy tables.

Pre-operatively, various tools for measuring life expectancy, comorbidity and the likely stage of the disease are available for use by surgeons in England, including the Charlson Index,⁶⁹ Partin tables⁷⁰ and the Memorial Sloan-Kettering nomogram.⁷¹ The Charlson table uses age as a factor affecting ten-year life expectancy; notably, however, Partin tables and the nomogram, which predict surgical outcomes, do not include age as a criterion.

Key findings

Figure 6 (overleaf) shows the rate of open prostatectomy procedures that took place in each of the last three years. The data show a clear trend, with treatment rates increasing

Fact Box:

Ten thousand men die from prostate cancer every year significantly across sequential age ranges up to the 65–69 bracket, then declining sharply across each of the subsequent age brackets. The data also show that the rates of treatment in the 60–74 age brackets have increased slightly in the last three years.

Data regarding treatment rates in men who underwent the procedure as an emergency admission were also analysed. However, these procedures account for a very small proportion of overall treatment numbers (only 0.75% of the total number of FAEs in 2010/2011) and therefore the sample is too small to be able to discern any significant trends.

The incidence of prostate cancer increases with age. Surgical treatment rates for the disease do not match the number of new cases being diagnosed in each age bracket of the population. Our clinical commentator noted several factors that may contribute to this observation:

- » Several clinical factors are important when considering a patient's appropriateness for radical prostatectomy, including previous history of major abdominal surgery, good cardiac function, continence and the absence of other pelvic cancers. At a population level older patients are more likely to have complicating comorbidities.
- » Other equally effective treatment options for prostate cancer exist and these may be favourable for older patients when assessing the risks and benefits of the various options available.
- » Our expert commentator indicated that evidence for the benefits of prostatectomy



Figure 6 Rate of elective excision of prostate procedures, by age

over other treatment options for patients over the age of 65 is lacking. Commonly, radiotherapy is offered as the primary treatment for patients over 70 as it is less invasive than surgery. Watchful waiting regimes are also increasingly employed for older patients as their life expectancy decreases, with some trials of watchful waiting versus radical prostatectomy showing little benefit in men over the age of 65.⁷¹

Our clinical commentators have suggested that life expectancy of at least ten years is sometimes used as an informal criterion for assessing the benefits of surgery. It is not clear, however, whether this is used to decide if surgery should be offered or to shape the advice that may be given to patients considering it as an option. It should be noted that statistically a man of 75 will have a life expectancy of 11 years.¹⁴

11 Cholecystectomy

Indication

An estimated 19% of the female population and 10% of the male population have gallstones, which are caused by the stagnation of bile in the gall bladder. Gallstones are also more prevalent in older people. Other risk factors include ethnicity, obesity, rapid weight loss and various medications including some forms of birth control. Around 15% of people with gallstones will experience symptoms as a result (gallstone disease)⁷³ and the incidence of gallstone disease increases with age.⁷⁴

Symptoms of gallstone disease include inflation of the gall bladder caused by gallstones (cholecystitis), biliary pain, jaundice, pancreatitis and common duct stones (choledocholithiasis). These symptoms can become life threatening if left untreated, particularly if the gall bladder becomes infected or the pancreas is severely inflamed.

Treatment

Gall bladder removal, or cholecystectomy, is indicated for patients with symptomatic gallstone disease. This is the most effective intervention for treating gallstone disease and laparoscopic (keyhole) cholecystectomy has largely replaced open procedures in the NHS because patients recover more quickly. Alternative treatments to surgery include the use of acid medication to dissolve the stones (ursodeoxycholic acid) or the use of ultrasound to break them up (lithotripsy). However, these methods are only effective in around 10% of patients.⁷⁵

Guidance

NICE has produced interventional procedure guidance for single-incision laparoscopic cholecystectomy (SILC) only. The guidance was published in May 2010 and advises on the safety and efficacy of the procedure.⁷⁶ Evidence around this procedure is limited as the majority of cholecystectomies are undertaken laparoscopically using multiple excisions, which is less complex but causes more scarring. The SILC guidance does not include guidance regarding patients' suitability for treatment.

The British Society of Gastroenterology produced guidance in 2008 for the management of common bile duct stones (CBDS), which states that:⁷⁷

'Cholecystectomy is recommended for all patients with CBDS and symptomatic gallbladder stones, unless there are specific reasons for considering surgery inappropriate.'

Fact Box: An estimated 19% of the female population have gall stones No further guidance is given in relation to suitability for treatment with cholecystectomy, including biological or chronological age, though the guidance does note that the risk of exploratory work, often undertaken alongside cholecystectomy, can be greater in older patients: '[the] *use of T-tubes, and increasing age appear to increase risk of complication for LCBDE* [laparoscopic common bile duct exploration].'

Key findings

Figure 7 (right) shows the rate of elective cholecystectomies that took place in the NHS between 2008/2009 and 2010/2011, broken down by the age of the patient. The rates are very similar in all three years, indicating that the epidemiology of the disease remained relatively consistent in the three years examined.

The graph shows that procedure rates increase for each age group up to the 65–69 bracket, after which surgical rates decline at an increasing rate. The most marked decline is seen in the 75–79 and 80–84 brackets.

Given that the incidence of gallstones increases with age, it is clear that the pattern of treatment outlined in Figure 7 does not correlate with incidence. A number of factors may explain why this decline in treatment rates is observed, some of which are detailed below:

- » A decline in the number of patients in those age groups presenting with symptoms.
- » Comorbidities, assessed using tools such as ASA grading (see Box 5), resulting in fewer older patients being recommended



Figure 7 Rate of elective cholecystectomies, by age





Figure 8 Rate of cholecystectomies, by age and gender



for surgery owing to concerns about the patient's ability to cope with anaesthesia.

» Fewer older people choosing to undergo surgery because they perceive their symptoms as minor or manageable.

Figure 8 shows the different surgical rates for cholecystectomies observed in the female and male population, clearly showing that rates are markedly higher in females under the age of 75, though interestingly the rates for the different genders largely align after the age of 75.

The higher rate of procedures among women between the ages of 15 and 74 reflects the epidemiology of gallstones, which are more prevalent in women. It is interesting to note the similar treatment-rate pattern for men and women over the age of 75. There is no clear clinical explanation as to why this might be the case, but it is suggested that decline in treatment rate in women over the age of 75 may indicate that treatment prior to 75 has in part prevented the need for surgery in the over-75s.

. Inguinal hernia repair

Indication

Inguinal hernias, otherwise known as groin hernias, are the most common type of hernia. They occur when intra-abdominal fat or part of the small intestine protrudes into the inguinal canal because of a weakness in the lowerabdominal muscles around the opening of the inguinal canal. The inguinal canals are two passages in the lower front of the abdominal muscles, which are located on each side of the groin.

Inguinal hernias are more common in men owing to the development of the male reproductive organs in the womb: both the spermatic cord and testes descend from the inguinal canal into the scrotum and the canal opening sometimes does not properly close after birth. Evidence suggests that, at a population level, age is a key risk factor for developing hernias.⁷⁸

A significant proportion of detected hernias are asymptomatic and some minor inguinal hernias can be massaged back into place. However, many hernias become symptomatic after tissue swelling causes them to get 'stuck' (incarceration), which can jeopardise the flow of blood to the trapped tissue (strangulation). This is more likely to occur the longer a hernia is left untreated and can cause severe infection and tissue death, which can become life threatening.

Treatment

Incarcerated hernias can be repaired through surgery, which relocates the hernia and either repairs the abdominal muscle wall with stitching, or uses a modern flexible mesh to effectively plug and reinforce the gap in the muscle wall (tension-free repair). Both techniques are possible using open surgery but laparoscopic surgery is favoured for the latter and has become the standard treatment for the majority of patients. However, a clinician may recommend that asymptomatic hernias are monitored for signs that they are becoming symptomatic and at risk of strangulation, rather than recommending immediate curative treatment for the hernia.

Guidance

NICE published a technology appraisal of laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair in September 2005,⁷⁹ which recommends laparoscopic surgery as a treatment option for the repair of inguinal hernias. It does not outline restrictions in the type of patient suitable for the procedure, though it notes that an individual's suitability for general anaesthesia should inform the type of procedure they receive, as different combinations of local and general anaesthetic may be required depending on the point of entry used to repair the hernia.

Guidance from the European Hernia Society recommends that '*All male adult (>30 years) patients with a symptomatic inguinal hernia should be operated on using a mesh technique*', and notes the preference for undertaking an endoscopic (laparoscopic) procedure for the active working population because of the socio-economic benefits.⁸⁰ This implies that retired individuals are less of a priority for laparoscopic procedures. The guidance notes that not all hernias require



Figure 9 Rate of elective inguinal hernia repair procedures, by age

surgery – particularly if they are asymptomatic. Elsewhere, however, it notes a study that concludes that some elderly men with significant comorbidities could benefit from elective surgery in order to avoid the higher risks associated with emergency surgery.

Neither pieces of guidance therefore refer to chronological age as a factor in decisions to undertake surgical inguinal hernia repair, though they note that an individual's level of comorbidity and employment status can be used to determine when and what type of procedure is undertaken.

Key findings

Figure 9 (left) shows the rate of elective procedures for inguinal hernia repair for each year between 2008/2009 and 2010/2011. The graph shows a clear trend, with a marked incline in rates up to the 75–79 age bracket followed by a marked decline. Interestingly, the graph also shows that the rates of treatment have slightly decreased in the majority of age brackets over each of the last three years.

The decline in surgery rates with age does not match the incidence–age profile of the condition. Our clinical commentator suggested factors that may cause this disparity, including:

- » Watchful waiting may be an appropriate alternative to surgery in some cases.
- » Some older patients may choose not to undergo a procedure, particularly given that they may be asymptomatic at the point of referral.
- » The actual or perceived level of postoperative care and support may additionally influence the decision to treat.

Figure 10 (right) shows the rate of emergency procedures that were performed for inguinal hernia repair for each year between 2008/2009 and 2010/2011. Emergency procedures present a greater risk of surgical mortality than elective procedures.

Notably, the graph shows that the rate of emergency procedures undertaken increases exponentially with the age of the patient. This is true all the way up to the 85–89 age bracket, after which the rate drops slightly.

The figures show that the peak for rate of emergency procedures is in the 85–90 age bracket, some ten years after the peak for elective procedures. This suggests that some emergency surgery may have been prevented by earlier elective surgery. It may also indicate a proportion of serious hernias that were previously asymptomatic and not monitored.



Figure 10 Rate of emergency finished admission episodes (FAEs) for inguinal hernia repair procedures, by age

Evidence suggests that at a population level, a key risk factor for developing hernias is age

Conclusions and recommendations (13

Surgery can significantly improve health outcomes both in terms of survival and quality of life. However, across a range of key procedures, surgery rates decline with age, despite the fact that the conditions being treated are more common among older people. In some instances observed emergency rates increase with age while elective rates are shown to fall, which might indicate a lack of early, preventative care for older patients.

The extent to which the decline in access to elective treatment is appropriate varies according to procedure and to each individual clinical case. We suggest a number of possible factors that may explain this decline. These factors may be interconnected and may occur together or alone. Firm conclusions about the relative bearing of these factors on decisions goes beyond the scope of this report, however they require further investigation in order to satisfy moral and legal imperatives in relation to age.

Possible factors affecting access to surgery for older patients

Clinical factors

The existence of a comorbidity or poor ASA scores (see Box 5), for example, may mean that the risks of treatment outweigh the benefits. In some instances there may be scope to optimise a patient's condition through effective management of comorbidities in primary and secondary care settings. At a population level, the correlation between comorbidities and age is recognised. However, there should be no conflation of the issues surrounding comorbidity and chronological age within a patient's individual package of care: a person's fitness for surgery must be objectively assessed. More work is needed to evaluate the extent to which tools such as ASA grading and risk calculators help surgeons and other clinicians to navigate complex issues and avoid potential harm caused by inappropriate surgery, while ensuring that their decisions are objective and promote age equality.

Separately, the stage of the disease may be more advanced in older patients on initial presentation, meaning that surgical treatment is no longer a viable option. Although this represents a legitimate clinical factor for the surgeon, the reasons for late presentation must be considered. They may be because of low levels of patient awareness, under-referral, or limited investigation of signs and symptoms by clinicians. These challenges must be addressed.

Clinical approaches

The way that individual clinicians approach the treatment of older people based on their own experience, attitudes and evidence:

- » A patient's chronological age and their biological age may be conflated – the decision to withhold treatment may not be made on the basis of a comprehensive and objective assessment but on a series of assumptions about fitness in older age. This could be due to outdated perceptions of how demanding a treatment regime may be, or a lack of awareness about demographic changes and the increasing fitness of older people.
- » The clinical benefit of providing treatment may be questioned when relative life expectancy is shorter.
- » Communication with patients to discuss risks and benefits, to inform and to reflect on issues and anxieties, may be limited or ineffective.
- There may be a shortage of tools and strategies that help clinicians make objective decisions about how to treat older patients. Geriatricians play a key role in helping to evaluate and manage risk, and promoting shared decision-making approaches.
 Effective MDT working to bring together physician, surgeon, anaesthetist and geriatrician is critical.
- » Clinicians may lack the confidence to treat patients where there is a dearth of evidence to justify doing so – older patients are under-represented in audit data and in clinical trials.

Patient awareness and preference

Patients may lack the information and support they need to make an informed decision about whether surgery is right for them or not. Even with the right information and support, patients may actively opt out of treatment because of concerns about the risks associated with surgery or their independence and mobility during recovery.

It is also clear that actions and behaviours across other parts of the patient pathway not covered by this report – in a primary care setting, in referral centres or as part of the wider commissioning process – may affect the rate of referral, which would have an impact on treatment rates. Policies or decisions in relation to restricted referrals may be based on population-level assumptions about the utility of treatment in older populations. Where these are not evidence based or objective, they are against the spirit and the letter of the legal framework.

Commissioners and providers also have a duty to deliver supportive care across the patient pathway, particularly where patients undergo invasive treatment. Pre and postoperative services, such as stoma nurse visits or physiotherapy, will help make surgery a viable and successful option and must be made available in line with need. Similarly, the input of Medicine for the Care of Older People clinicians after surgery can mean that older patients who may once have responded poorly to surgical procedures can now expect much better outcomes.¹⁸

More broadly, steps should be taken to reduce the need for surgery among older people – through early condition management or falls prevention for example. The need for this is clearly demonstrated by the rise in emergency hip replacement operations by age. Highquality, integrated health and social care services are critical to improve the outcomes and experiences of patients as they grow older.

If access to surgery for older people was improved, the following significant health gains could be delivered:

- » people would live longer;
- » the impact of long-term conditions would be reduced; and
- » recovery from episodes of ill health would be enhanced.

These factors reflect the domains in the NHS Outcomes Framework and addressing them in the context of older people should be a key priority for the NHS Commissioning Board.

As the population ages, the inequities in access to care among patients of different ages will become more acute. All those with an interest in improving health outcomes should work together to safely optimise surgery rates for older people.

Overleaf we set out some recommended steps for achieving this.

Recommendations

Informing and communicating with patients

Older people may be less aware of the signs and symptoms of disease or may be less willing to seek medical help, perhaps dismissing symptoms as an inevitable part of ageing rather than a sign of potentially serious ill health. Equally, older people's perceptions about surgery may have been formed many years ago and may not reflect the realities of modern medicine. This could also be applied to health professionals with responsibility for referring people in the first place. The NHS must address these issues if access to surgery for older people is to be increased.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
1	Disease awareness campaigns should be targeted at the groups in society most at risk. Where this is older people, specific communications programmes should be developed. The pilot programme to raise awareness of breast cancer in the over 70s is a potential model for this.	Public Health England
2	Providers of NHS care should make age-appropriate information for patients on surgical procedures common to older people available, drawing on the expertise of the professions and the voluntary sector.	NHS providers and medical and patient charities
3	Patient decision aids should be developed for common surgical procedures. These should be targeted at groups in society where surgical treatment rates are lower than expected based on the estimated prevalence of relevant conditions.	Department of Health
4	Competencies and arrangements for shared decision-making in relation to surgery should be assessed through appraisal and revalidation processes.	General Medical Council and individual surgeons
5	Clinicians should inform patients if surgery has been ruled out for a condition where it would normally be considered, and provide reasons. ⁸¹ There should be no informal age 'cut-offs' and older patients and their families must be supported to challenge this where they suspect it is happening.	Surgeons and commissioners of surgical services

Improving the evidence base

Most clinical interventions are initially tested on younger people, meaning that some clinicians may not feel confident in using them to treat older patients. This situation cannot be allowed to continue.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
6	Funders of research should require that studies are conducted in the age group that is most common for the disease in question unless there is a compelling reason otherwise.	Research funders (public and charity)
0	In responding to the ban on age discrimination in the NHS, the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) should publish a strategy for improving the evidence base for interventions in older people.	NIHR
8	Building on the work undertaken by the National Cancer Equality Initiative and the Pharmaceutical Oncology Initiative, ¹⁹ the Department of Health should work with the medical royal colleges to further investigate clinical attitudes towards ageing and the impact that this can have on making decisions on treatment. The study should explore the impact of clinical and non-clinical factors on access to treatment for the older patient population.	Department of Health and royal colleges
9	Surgical specialties should accelerate work to record and publish accurate and comprehensive outcome data to improve the evidence base on the benefits of treatment for older patients. The Adult Cardiac Surgery Database ⁸² produced by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons is one example of good practice in this area.	The Royal College of Surgeons and surgical specialty associations

Developing guidance

In order to support providers and commissioners of NHS care in delivering the most appropriate care for older patients, guidance should be developed to support consistent practice.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
1	Following the example set in the NICE quality standard on breast cancer, all further NICE quality standards should make explicit reference to age where there is evidence that older patients are not receiving the same high-quality treatment as other age groups.	NICE
•	NICE clinical guidelines and specialty guidance produced by surgical specialty associations should include additional guidance on the management of complex needs and comorbidities, how to optimise patient fitness ahead of surgery and arrangements for post-operative care.	NICE
12	The Royal College of Surgeons and surgical specialty associations should explicitly address age equality in future guidance.	The Royal College of Surgeons and surgical specialty associations

Delivering the most appropriate care

Delivering high-quality care for older people should be an organising principle for healthcare providers. In order to achieve this, the needs of older patients should be reflected in training, service organisation and through NHS payment systems.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
13	Training for acute specialties should include dedicated components on treatment of older people.	Health Education England
14	Geriatricians should be involved more routinely in MDTs for conditions that are common in older people. Such practice should be rewarded through the tariff, either through the use of the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) framework or through best-practice tariffs.	The Royal College of Surgeons and the Royal College of Physicians
15	Providers should be required to present in their quality accounts an analysis of treatment rates for older people across common surgical procedures. Where there is deviance from a national benchmark, providers should set out how access to surgery for older patients will be improved in line with clinical need.	NHS providers and NHS Commissioning Board
16	Performance monitoring and incentives for providers should take into account the need to optimise patients for treatment in the acute setting and provide appropriate post-operative support in line with their needs.	Department of Health, NHS Commissioning Board and CCGs

Evaluating impact

Disaggregating information on the quality of care by age should become routine practice.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
16	The NHS Information Centre for Health and Social Care should routinely publish data on surgical procedures disaggregated by five-year age groups to promote the analysis of trends in treatment rates over time.	NHS Information Centre for Health and Social Care
18	NHS Right Care should publish an atlas of variation for common surgical procedures and other major interventions according to age and geography.	NHS Right Care Programme
19	National clinical audits should routinely publish data disaggregated according to age. Where validated tools exist to assess biological as opposed to chronological age as part of the clinical decision-making process, their usage should be recorded and evaluated through national clinical audits.	The National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Programme
20	Providers should be required to publish details of local conversion rates (the percentage of patients referred to a surgeon who go on to receive surgery) as a means of assessing geographical variation and investigating primary care referral as a possible barrier to access.	NHS Providers
21	Surgical MDTs should review their own treatment rates according to age. The use of such reviews should be incorporated in processes such as appraisal and revalidation.	Surgeons and MDT members

Delivering high-quality commissioning for older people

In order to deliver the improvements in health outcomes described in the NHS Outcomes Framework, commissioners of NHS services should prioritise efforts to improve services for older people.

	Recommendation	Overall responsibility
22	Health and Wellbeing Boards should ensure that joint health and wellbeing strategies address the health and social care needs of older patients to prevent the need for surgery wherever possible. They should also ensure that patients can access surgical interventions in line with their clinical needs, with the right pre and post-operative support in place.	Health and Wellbeing Boards
23	Given the ban on age discrimination in the NHS, the Commissioning Outcomes Framework should include specific measures relating to treatment for older people in order to incentivise good commissioning practice.	NHS Commissioning Board and NICE
24	The Department of Health should prioritise work to remove the upper age limits within Domain 1 of the NHS Outcomes Framework to ensure that the NHS prioritises life-saving interventions for patients of all ages and is measured for progress across all age groups.	Department of Health and NHS Commissioning Board
25	Where there are allegations of rationing of interventions according to age, as opposed to clinical need and potential benefit, these should be investigated by the commissioners of that service and escalated to the NHS Commissioning Board where appropriate.	Service commissioners and NHS Commissioning Board

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the following clinicians and organisations for their help with the development of this report:

- » Steve Cannon, Consultant Trauma and Orthopaedic Surgeon, Honorary Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon at the Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital.
- » Ben Challacombe, Consultant Urological Surgeon and Honorary Senior Lecturer, Guy's and St Thomas' Hospital and King's College London.
- » Graham Cooper, Consultant Cardiac Surgeon, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals, Honorary Secretary of the Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery.
- » Fiona MacNeill, Consultant Breast Surgeon, Royal Marsden Hospital.
- » Mike Parker, Consultant Surgeon, Fawkham Manor Hospital and BMI Chelsfield Park Hospital.
- » Bill Thomas, Consultant Surgeon and Honorary Senior Clinical Lecturer in Surgery, University of Sheffield.

In addition The Royal College of Anaesthetists provided information on ASA grading.

Report secretariat

This report was produced by: Age UK, MHP Health Mandate and The Royal College of Surgeons of England.

This report has been funded with support from the Dunhill Medical Trust.



The Dunhill Medical Trust

References

- National population projections: 2008-based projections. Office for National Statistics. http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/npp/national-populationprojections/2008-based-projections/index.html (cited August 2012).
- Breast Cancer UK incidence statistics. Cancer Research UK. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/types/breast/incidence/uk-breast-cancerincidence-statistics (cited August 2012).
- 3. Department of Health. The NHS Constitution. London: DH; 2012.
- 4. Cornwell J, Sonola L, Levenson R, Poteliakhoff E. Continuity of care for older hospital patients: a call for action. London: The King's Fund; 2012.
- Health and Social Care Bill: Memorandum submitted by Age UK (HS 25). UK Parliament Website. http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201011/ cmpublic/health/memo/m25.htm (cited August 2012).
- 6. Cancer mortality by age. Cancer Research UK. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/mortality/age/ (cited August 2012).
- 7. Care Quality Commission. Dignity and nutrition inspection programme: national overview. Care Quality Commission: Newcastle upon Tyne; 2009.
- 8. Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman. Care and compassion? Report of the Health Service Ombudsman on ten investigations into NHS care of older people. London: The Stationery Office; 2011.
- 9. Reports and reviews. Centre for Policy on Ageing. http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/reviews.html (cited August 2012).
- 10. Later life in the United Kingdom. Age UK. http://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/Factsheets/Later_Life_UK_factsheet.pdf?dtrk=true (cited August 2012).
- 11. Cornwell J. The care of frail older people with complex needs: time for a revolution. London: The King's Fund; 2012 March 2012
- 12. The Patients Association. *Listen to patients, Speak up for change*. London: The Patients Association; 2011.
- 13. Department of Health. Reducing cancer inequality: evidence, progress and making it happen: a report by the National Cancer Equality Initiative. London: DH; 2010.
- 14. Office for National Statistics. Interim Life Tables, England and Wales, 1980-82 to 2008-10. Newport: ONS; 2011.
- 15. Office for National Statistics. Health statistics Quarterly Summer 2011: Edition No 50. Newport: ONS; 2009.
- 16. Wilkinson K, Martin IC, Gough MJ, et al. An Age Old Problem: A review of the care received by elderly patients undergoing surgery. London: National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death; 2010.
- 17. Carruthers I, Ormondroyd J. Achieving age equality in health and social care. London: CPA; 2009.
- 18. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Breast cancer Quality Standard (QSABC). London: NICE; 2011.
- 19. Department of Health. The impact of patient age on clinical decision-making in oncology. London: DH; 2012.
- 20. Department of Health. The Operating Framework for the NHS in England 2012-13. London: DH; 2011.
- 21. Audit Commission. Reducing expenditure on low clinical value treatments. London: Audit Commission; 2011.
- 22. Dakin H, Gray A, Fitzpatrick R, et al. Rationing of total knee replacement: a cost-effectiveness analysis on a large trial data set. BMJ Open 2012; 2: e000332.
- 23. NHS Kent and Medway. Kent & Medway Referral And Treatment Criteria. West Malling: NHS Kent and Medway; 2012.
- 24. Cataracts. Patient.co.uk. http://www.patient.co.uk/health/Cataracts.htm (cited August 2012).
- Soteriou M. Lansley says 'unacceptable' for PCTs to ration care. GP Magazine; 21 June 2012. http://www.gponline.com/News/article/1137523/lansleysays-unacceptable-pcts-ration-care (cited August 2012).
- Summary of DH reporting on implementation of the DH-EHRC Framework for Action and Action Plan on Performance of the Public Sector Equality Duty. Department of Health. https://www.wp.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/01/DH-EHRC-Framework-Agreement-Summary-of-the-First-Three-Reports.pdf (cited August 2012).
- 27. Department of Health. The NHS Outcomes Framework 2012/13: Technical appendix. London: DH; 2011.
- Are Women Screened over the age of 70? NHS Breast Cancer Screening Programme. http://www.cancerscreening.nhs.uk/breastscreen/over-70.html (cited August 2012).
- 29. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Clinical Guidance for early and locally advanced breast cancer (CG80). London: NICE; 2009.
- 30. Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Easter Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Clin Oncol 1982; 5: 649-55.
- Association of Breast Surgery at Baso 2009. Surgical guidelines for the management of breast cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2009; 35: 1–22 (epub ahead of print).
- 32. Burgess CC, Potts HW, Hamed H, et al. Why do older women delay presentation with breast cancer symptoms? Psychooncology 2006; 15: 962-68.
- Tabassum F, Breeze E, Kumari M. Coronary heart disease risk factors and regional deprivation in England: does age matter? Age Ageing 2010; 39: 253–56
- CABG Information. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons. http://www.sts.org/patient-information/adult-cardiac-surgery/cabg-information/ (cited August 2012).
- 35. Hirose H, Amano A, Takahashi A. Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting for elderly patients. Ann Thorac Surg 2001; 72: 2013-19.
- 36. A Natarajan, Samadian S, Clark S. Coronary artery bypass surgery in elderly people. Postgrad Med J 2007; 83: 154–58.
- 37. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting (IPG377). London: NICE; 2011.
- The Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery in GB & Ireland. Sixth National Adult Cardiac Surgical Database Report. Henley-on-Thames: Dendrite Clinical Systems Ltd; 2009.
- Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. Guidelines
 on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J 2010; 31: 2,501–55.
- 40. Roques F, Michel P, Goldstone AR, Nashef SA. The logistic EuroSCORE. Eur Heart J 2003; 24: 882-83.
- 41. Cardio & Vascular Coalition. Cardio Vascular Disease in England: Opportunities and Challenges over the Next Ten Years. London: British Heart Foundation; 2008.
- Clinical Knowledge Summaries: Osteoarthritis Management. NHS Evidence. http://www.cks.nhs.uk/osteoarthritis/management/detailed_answers/ principles_of_management_of_osteoarthritis/surgery (cited August 2012).
- 43. Chidambaram R, Cobb AG. Change in the age distribution of patients undergoing primary hip and knee replacements over 13 years an increase in the number of younger men having hip surgery. J Bone Joint Surgery Br 2009; 91: supp 152.
- 44. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. The Care and Management of Osteoarthritis in adults (CG59). London: NICE; 2008.
- 45. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Minimally invasive total hip replacement (IPG363). London: NICE; 2010.

- 46. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Hip disease replacement prostheses (TA2). London: NICE; 2000.
- Judge A, Welton NJ, Sandhu J, Ben-Shlomo Y. Equity in access to total joint replacement of the hip and knee in England: cross sectional study. BMJ 2010; 341: c4092.
- Bowel (colorectal) cancer UK incidence statistics. Cancer Research UK. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/types/bowel/incidence/ (cited August 2012).
- 49. Inflammatory Bowel Disease Basics. Crohn's and Colitis UK. http://www.nacc.org.uk/content/ibd.asp (cited August 2012).
- 50. Stollman N, Raskin JB. Diverticular disease of the colon. Lancet 2004; 363: 631–39.
- 51. Sheth AA, Longo W, Floch MH. Diverticular disease and diverticulitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 1,550–56.
- Tresca AJ. Does Surgery Help Crohn's Disease? About.com Guide. http://ibdcrohns.about.com/od/surgeryprocedures/a/crohnssurgery.htm (cited August 2012).
- 53. Crohn's disease. NHS Choices. http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Crohns-disease/Pages/Introduction.aspx (cited August 2012).
- 54. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Laparoscopic surgery for the treatment of colorectal cancer (TA105). London: NICE; 2006.
- 55. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. The diagnosis and management of colorectal cancer (CG131). London: NICE; 2011.
- 56. The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. Guidelines for the Management of Colorectal Cancer, 3rd edn. London: ACGBI; 2007.
- 57. Kuo LJ, Leu SJ, Lui MC et al. How aggressive should we be in patients with stage IV colorectal cancer: Dis Colon Rectum 2003; 46: 1646-52.
- 58. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Cancer services: improving outcomes in colorectal cancers (CSGCC). London: NICE; 2004.
- Fozard JB, Armitage NC, Schofield JB, Jones OM, on behalf of the Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. Colorectal Disease: ACPGBI position statement on elective resection for diverticulitis. Colorectal Dis 2011; 13: 1–11.
- 60. Carter MJ, Lobo AJ, Travis SPL, on behalf of the IBD Section of the British Society of Gastroenterology. Guidelines for the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. Gut 2004; 53: V1–16.
- 61. Homepage. Risk prediction in surgery. www.riskprediction.org.uk (cited August 2012).
- 62. Prostate cancer statistics UK. Cancer Research UK. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/types/prostate/ (cited August 2012)
- 63. Prostate cancer risk factors. Cancer Research UK. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/cancerstats/types/prostate/riskfactors/ (cited August 2012).
- 64. Chowdhury S. Data presented at National Cancer Intelligence Network conference. London; 2011. http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/news/archive/ pressrelease/2011-06-15-half-prostate-cancer-deaths-from-the-disease (cited August 2012).
- 65. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Laparoscopic radical prostatectomy (IPG193). London: NICE; 2006.
- 66. The British Association of Urological Surgeons Section of Oncology. Analyses of Complex operations and the Newly diagnosed registry for Urological cancers, January 1st 31st December 2010. London: BAUS; 2011.
- 67. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Prostate cancer: diagnosis and treatment (CG58). London: NICE; 2008.
- 68. British Association of Urological Surgeons. MDT (Multi-disciplinary Team) Guidance for Managing Prostate Cancer (2nd edition). London: BAUS; 2009.
- Comorbidity Index and Score of Charlson et al. Institute for Algorithmic Medicine. http://50.63.61.218/visitor/OnlineCalculators/ch1/ch1.13/ch1.13.01. php (cited August 2012).
- 70. Prostate cancer: The Partin Tables. John Hopkins Medicine. http://urology.jhu.edu/prostate/partintables.php (cited August 2012).
- Prostate cancer: Prediction Tools. Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Centre. http://www.mskcc.org/cancer-care/adult/prostate/prediction-tools (cited August 2012).
- 72. Bill-Axelson A, Holmberg L, Ruutu M, et al. Radical prostatectomy versus watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 1,977-84.
- 73. Bar-Meir S. Gallstones: prevalence, diagnosis and treatment. IMAJ 2001; 3: 111-13.
- Festi D, Dormi A, Capodicasa S, et al. Incidence of gallstone disease in Italy: Results from a multicenter, population-based Italian study (the MICOL project). World J Gastroenterol 2008; 14: 5,282–89.
- 75. Treating gallstones. NHS Choices. http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Gallstones/Pages/Treatment.aspx (cited August 2012).
- 76. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Single-incision laparoscopic cholecystectomy (IPG346). London: NICE; 2010.
- 77. Williams EJ, Green J, Beckingham I, et al. Guidelines on the management of common bile duct stones (CBDS). Gut 2008; 57: 1,004-21.
- 78. Ruhl CE, Everhart JE. Risk Factors for Inguinal Hernia among Adults in the US Population. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 165: 1,154-61.
- 79. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Laparoscopic surgery for inguinal hernia repair (TA83). London: NICE; 2004.
- Simons MP, Aufenacker T, Bay-Nielsen M, et al. European Hernia Society guidelines on the treatment of inguinal hernia in adult patients. Hernia 2009; 13: 343–403.
- 81. The Royal College of Surgeons. Good Surgical Practice. RCS Professional Standards and Regulation Department. London: RCS; 2008.
- 82. STS National Database. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons. http://www.sts.org/national-database (cited August 2012).









The Royal College of Surgeons of England 35–43 Lincoln's Inn Fields | London | WC2A 3PE www.rcseng.ac.uk | registered charity no 212808





The Dunhill Medical Trust





Produced by Matthew Whitaker, Jon Hackett and Adam Brownsell Printed by Latimer Trend & Company Ltd

The Royal College of Surgeons of England 35–43 Lincoln's Inn Fields London WC2A 3PE

The Royal College of Surgeons of England © 2012 Registered charity number 212808

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of The Royal College of Surgeons of England.

While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this publication, no guarantee can be given that all errors and omissions have been excluded. No responsibility for loss occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action as a result of the material in this publication can be accepted by The Royal College of Surgeons of England and the contributors.